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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: As you can see,

          3  we have a little music for our Cultural Committee

          4  from Broadway.

          5                 Today the topic is A Search of a

          6  Blueprint for the Cultural Community and the Role of

          7  the Performing Arts in New York City.

          8                 I want to thank everyone for

          9  attending this hearing today. Of course, my name,

         10  and most of you know who I am, Domenic M. Recchia,

         11  Jr., I'm the Chair of this wonderful committee, and,

         12  you know, it's a very busy day so Council Members

         13  will be coming in and out, and this oversight

         14  hearing will be focusing on the performing arts,

         15  like I said, entitled, In Search of a Blueprint for

         16  the Cultural Community, Part 1, and the Role of the

         17  Performing Arts.

         18                 The performing arts plays a major

         19  role in our City today, and this hearing is the

         20  first in a series where we will examine the vital

         21  cultural life in New York City, and it will be

         22  followed by an oversight hearing entitled In Search

         23  of a Blueprint for a Cultural Community Part 2:

         24  Issues Facing the Performing Arts in New York, which

         25  will be held on October 17th.
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          2                 The main goal of today's hearing is

          3  to explore the contributions of the performing arts

          4  in New York City's cultural community, cultural

          5  tourism, economic development, and for us to become

          6  clear which City agency is really dealing with the

          7  performing arts, which City agency is dealing with

          8  the theater, you know? Is it the Department of

          9  Cultural Affairs? Is it the movie? Mayor's Office

         10  for Film, Theatre and Broadcasting? Is it economic,

         11  EDC? Because many times we are asked questions of

         12  where do I go? People come to see us. Do I go to

         13  DCA? Do I go to the Mayor's Office for Film, Theatre

         14  and Broadcasting? Do I go to Economic Development?

         15  So what we're trying to do is clarify the people in

         16  the performing arts, and for the people of the City

         17  of New York, exactly who goes where and what

         18  agencies have authority over what parts of the

         19  performing arts?

         20                 We will hear testimony from the

         21  Administration and members of the performance

         22  community.

         23                 Additionally, the Committee will hear

         24  testimony highlighting the fact that the performing

         25  arts are a unique and valuable sector of the
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          2  cultural community.

          3                 As mentioned previously, this hearing

          4  will be the initial step in the series of hearings,

          5  that will serve as an opportunity to study exactly,

          6  like I told you before, about our cultural.

          7                 At the end of this, we will also be

          8  taking testimony on Resolution 1152, to those of you

          9  who are not familiar with this, it's a resolution

         10  designating the last week of January to be known and

         11  celebrated as Live Theatre Week in New York City and

         12  calling upon the Mayor, the New York City Department

         13  of Cultural Affairs, and the Mayor's Office of Film,

         14  Theatre and Broadcasting to recognize and celebrate

         15  such a week, because it's at this period of time

         16  where many theaters and performing arts are slow,

         17  and it's a downtime, we'd like to help them out in

         18  any way we can.

         19                 So, at this time, I'd like to begin

         20  by welcoming you all and calling up to testify

         21  first, Katherine Oliver, the Commissioner of the

         22  Mayor's Office of Film, Theatre and Broadcasting.

         23  And before we get started, I'd just like to say I

         24  think you're doing a wonderful job. You increased

         25  the number of films being made and you're dealing
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          2  with many of my colleagues and I in resolving

          3  problems. At least we know where to go now and who

          4  is there to help us. And I think we'd like to hear

          5  you testify and do the same for the performing arts

          6  and the theatre and see how we can work together.

          7                 So, Ms. Oliver.

          8                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Good morning. Good afternoon. Thank

         11  you very much for having me here today. I think the

         12  wonderful thing about New York City is that it is so

         13  culturally diverse, and we really are the

         14  entertainment and cultural capital of the world, and

         15  I think all of my colleagues in City government, in

         16  my agency at the Economic Development Corporation,

         17  City Hall and at DCA, are working very closely

         18  together to address all of the needs of this very

         19  vibrant and important industry for our City.

         20                 It's, our priority number one is to

         21  create jobs and retain jobs in these areas, but also

         22  it's a wonderful way to promote New York City,

         23  because most people around the world know our City

         24  because of film, television and for the cultural

         25  institutions that exist here. It's really
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          2  intermarried with the Travel and Tourism Department

          3  that is so vital to the economic development of the

          4  City of New York as well, and we've been very lucky

          5  that that industry is booming as well in recent

          6  months, due in large part of the efforts of the

          7  current administration.

          8                 Broadway is a New York Institution,

          9  which contributes greatly to our City's status as a

         10  cultural capital and tourist mecca. The theatre

         11  industry spends millions of dollars in this City

         12  each season and contributes to the economic spending

         13  and impact of visitor spending.

         14                 The Broadway community has also made

         15  New York City a gathering ground for the world's

         16  finest talent pool, which draws film-makers and

         17  television producers from around the globe to our

         18  City, and in turn supports our $5 billion local

         19  production industry.

         20                 Broadway also strengthens the social,

         21  cultural and historic fabric of our City. Whether

         22  through Broadway Cares/Equity Fights AIDS, which

         23  since 1998 has raised over $100 million to provide

         24  services for individuals with HIV and AIDS, or

         25  through the Star Cohort Program, a collaboration
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          2  between the Department of Education and Actors' Fund

          3  of America, which brings actors into classrooms as

          4  substitute teachers to integrate theatre and

          5  drama-based methodologies into our curriculums.

          6                 In 1998, the New York's Landmark

          7  Preservation Commission designated most of

          8  Broadway's theatres as historic sites.

          9                 At our agency, the Mayor's Office of

         10  Film, Theatre and Broadcasting, we support our

         11  City's theater community by addressing the needs of

         12  Broadway theatres, promoting audience attendance,

         13  marketing New York City as the entertainment capital

         14  of the world.

         15                 We really act as a liaison between

         16  the City and the theatre community to ensure the

         17  successful operations of the City's 40 Broadway

         18  theatres on a day-to-day basis.

         19                 Recently this has been addressing

         20  noise issues near a theatre, or working to have

         21  metered parking which posed fire hazards removed

         22  from theatre entrances, addressing impediments to a

         23  theatre entrance and facilitating the creation of a

         24  no-standing zone at the back of Carnegie Hall, to

         25  accommodate the loading of production materials.
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          2                 In July, our agency assumed

          3  responsibility for issuing permits for Red Carpet

          4  Theatre premieres, and we recently handled the

          5  permitting and coordination of the renaming of the

          6  Shubert Organization's Gerald Schoenfeld and Bernard

          7  B. Jacobs Theatres.

          8                 We also promote theatre attendance

          9  via our website and our newsletter, which has over

         10  12,000 subscribers, and is available in both English

         11  and Spanish.

         12                 In partnership with the Department of

         13  Cultural Affairs and the Theatre Development Fund,

         14  known as TDF, we have created a program by which

         15  City employees can receive discounts on Broadway

         16  tickets.

         17                 We regularly disseminate information

         18  about the newest productions on Broadway, milestones

         19  such as Phantom of the Opera's 7000th performance,

         20  the Tony awards which recognize and promote the

         21  industry, and various theatre events and initiatives

         22  which encourage audience attendance, such as the

         23  Theatre Development Fund TKTS booth in Times Square,

         24  Kids' Night on Broadway, New York Musical Theatre

         25  Festival, Summer Play Festival, the Alliance of
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          2  Resident Theatres/New York and New York City Arts

          3  Coalition promotion "Two-fer/Two Weeks" and the list

          4  goes on and on. And of course, the New York Winter

          5  Theatre Arts Festival.

          6                 We also provided 40 bus shelter

          7  posters throughout the boroughs to the Tony Awards

          8  in April and May, and 25 bus shelter posters to

          9  promote the summer play festival in June and July.

         10                 Our website offers numerous resources

         11  to this industry, including information on rehearsal

         12  and performance spaces, grants and funding

         13  opportunities, and a subsection of the commercial

         14  rent tax, which offers qualified theatrical

         15  productions in parts of Manhattan, an exemption from

         16  rent tax for the first 52 weeks of production.

         17                 We offer theatre history and

         18  information on individual venues for theatre-goers

         19  on line.

         20                 We work to generate positive press

         21  coverage of the City's entertainment industry, and

         22  recently helped to waive the fees associated with

         23  shooting in Duffy Square for the production of a

         24  "League of American Theatres and Producers" public

         25  service announcement.
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          2                 In December, I recognized the

          3  League's 75 years of contributions to our City by

          4  presenting a proclamation, declaring the League of

          5  American Theatres and Producers' Day. And in

          6  October, Mayor Bloomberg saluted Broadway for its

          7  contributions to the City at the Tony Honors.

          8                 Finally, in partnership with the

          9  Department of Cultural Affairs, we've created a

         10  marketing credit, which offers qualified film and

         11  television productions, advertising on City bus

         12  shelters, in exchange for a contribution to a local

         13  cultural organization, which is intended to nurture

         14  up and coming talent and to strengthen our City's

         15  creative community.

         16                 Pregones Theatre, featuring Latino

         17  theatre production, was the recipient of a donation

         18  from the TV show called Jonny Zero and the series

         19  Hope and Faith recent made donations to the New

         20  Dramatists and Young Playwrights organizations.

         21                 Broadway's impact on the City's

         22  culture and economy is far-reaching, and by

         23  addressing the needs of theaters, promoting audience

         24  attendance, offering resources for the industry, and

         25  marketing the City as the world's stage, the Mayor's
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          2  Office of Film, Theatre and Broadcasting supports

          3  the lucrative theatre industry and helps to cement

          4  the City's status as the international cultural

          5  capital.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

          8  much, Commissioner Oliver.

          9                 You know, it's confusing to people

         10  because of DCA and your office, you know, what is

         11  basically your responsibility when it comes to

         12  theatre?

         13                 You know, because in your testimony

         14  you talk about information and grants and funding

         15  opportunity, and what's the difference? Like where

         16  do you stand, and where does DCA stand?

         17                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: We work very

         18  closely with DCA, and I think that the Department of

         19  Cultural Affairs is focused on helping the cultural

         20  institutions, which could be museums to the

         21  not-for-profit theaters, I mean it's a wide range of

         22  institutions in what they cover.

         23                 I work very closely with Commissioner

         24  Kate Levin, whenever a query comes our way about the

         25  theatre community, we collaborate on everything.
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          2                 And the goal is, again, to create job

          3  opportunities, retain jobs, and also to clarify to

          4  our customers where they should go for their needs.

          5  And they vary.

          6                 You know, as I said in my testimony,

          7  on a daily basis we can deal with issues, you know,

          8  noise issues near a theatre, we might get a phone

          9  call, or we might get a phone call that trees are

         10  blocking a marquis, so, you know, we'll call the

         11  Parks Department and have them prune some trees. Or

         12  there might have been some issues with the metered

         13  parking, perhaps a metered parking was placed in the

         14  wrong position.

         15                 So, there's a range of like

         16  logistical and practical issues, when a show is

         17  coming into Broadway, they have to load in, and then

         18  when they finish, they have to load out. We issue

         19  the permits for those types of things.

         20                 So, on a day-to-day basis there are a

         21  lot of logistical things that we do, and we talk

         22  individually to the theatres, quite frequently to

         23  the league, as a general point of contact. We work

         24  very closely with the Times Square BID that is very

         25  much a part of the community, and we work with the
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          2  individual producers.

          3                 In addition, we look at the marketing

          4  and promotion. This is a wonderful way to promote

          5  the City, and we want to try to do our part to not

          6  only get more tourists to frequent the theaters and

          7  to visit the Times Square, but also to get New

          8  Yorkers.

          9                 And that's why we thought, well,

         10  there are over 300,000 people who work for the City

         11  of New York. One way to try to get more New Yorkers

         12  to support theatre would be to educate them and make

         13  it a little easier for them to get theatre tickets,

         14  so we talked to TDF and we, two years ago, initiated

         15  a program where City employees could take advantage

         16  of a discount on a subscriber fee. And the purpose

         17  of that is to educate more people that theatre is

         18  available, that it's reachable.

         19                 Often, you know, I will accompany the

         20  Mayor. We'll be at TKTS and we're greeting visitors,

         21  we go to opening nights, and we're seen as

         22  Ambassadors for the industry.

         23                 And one last thing, in my job, you

         24  know, ultimately if I'm luring in more film and

         25  television to the City, part of my job is to sell
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          2  New York and all it has to offer to the film and

          3  television community and commercial producers. And I

          4  point to the rich talent pool in New York City,

          5  because of theatre, and I point to the amazing crews

          6  that are here. You know, there is no other City in

          7  the world that Lorraine Broco or Edie Falco can star

          8  in a Broadway show, you know, do an episodic

          9  television series, maybe shoot a feature film, do

         10  some commercials and sleep at home in their New York

         11  home.

         12                 You know, Hollywood doesn't have

         13  Broadway, and if you go to a Broadway show and you

         14  look in the Playbill and you look at where those

         15  actors are working, a lot of them are working on Law

         16  and Order. So, there's lots of cross-over between

         17  the mediums and the industry, and that's really

         18  important. Because if the actors are really excited

         19  about working here, there's another reason why they

         20  should stay in New York longer to practice their

         21  craft.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: See, what I'm

         23  trying to do is, I have two columns, one for DCA,

         24  one for movie, film and theatre, and do it this way.

         25  So, in other words, you're in charge of making it so
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          2  that we have discount tickets for tourism; that's

          3  your Department, not DCA?

          4                 MS. OLIVER: That's not necessarily --

          5  I would say that it's logistical work, and it's

          6  promotion, and under the logistical work it's, and

          7  you know, as I said before, voice problems, issues

          8  with, you know, muni-meters, load-in, load-outs,

          9  doing the Red Carpet events, that's an important

         10  day-to-day operational task that we serve, and we

         11  serve a similar task to the film and television

         12  industry. But specifically for theatre when they

         13  have a Red Carpet event, or it's a special event, we

         14  help and we work with other City agencies, the NYPD,

         15  CAU, to orchestrate that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No, because you

         17  mentioned the discount tickets.

         18                 MS. OLIVER: That's part of the

         19  promotion.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right.

         21                 MS. OLIVER: And that's seen as a way

         22  to try top promote what is going on in the City of

         23  New York, and to get more people to attend theatre.

         24                 So, I think it's part of all of the

         25  promotional initiatives.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, you deal,

          3  dealing with discount tickets for theater, in

          4  promoting the City and in promoting Broadway; that's

          5  your Department, not DCA?

          6                 MS. OLIVER: They take part in that,

          7  as well. We work very closely with them. But I mean,

          8  all of the marketing and promotional initiatives

          9  that we think of and work with, we work with a lot

         10  of City agencies. Now we have the marketing

         11  Department for the City of New York. But to clarify,

         12  you know, we work very closely with the DCA. If we

         13  get any question that comes in on a daily basis that

         14  is in regard to theatre development or different

         15  issues, I'm on the phone with Kate Levin and we're

         16  talking about it, and figuring out exactly what that

         17  customer needs, and who is best, you know, in the

         18  best position to help them out.

         19                 It might not be either one of us, it

         20  might be EDC. So, I think we can't generalize. What

         21  we're trying to do is to reinforce the one-stop

         22  shop. And I think my agency is unique that it looks

         23  after the theatre, and I think other, you know, film

         24  commissions around the world don't, they don't have

         25  that responsibility.
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          2                 So, we would encourage people in the

          3  entertainment community to reach out to us first, we

          4  can be the one-stop shop, and then if it's a

          5  specific question about cultural affairs

          6  initiatives, we would then refer them to DCA, or to

          7  the other appropriate City agency.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So, if somebody

          9  had a plan on working with a program for discount

         10  tickets, all right? Would they come to you, or would

         11  they go to DCA?

         12                 See, the biggest problem here, and

         13  this is, you know, it's not clear, people want to

         14  know, who do they go speak to when they need help in

         15  the performing arts? Do they go to you or Kate

         16  Levin? And people don't have time to go to every

         17  Commissioner's office. See, this is the problem that

         18  we're getting from --

         19                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: I would

         20  recommend that they reach out to us. If they've got

         21  a long history, if it's something with the

         22  performing arts having to do with Carnegie Hall or

         23  Lincoln Center, they have a long history working

         24  with DCA, and they probably talk to Kate Levin and

         25  her colleagues on a regular basis.
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          2                 You know, we're dealing with a lot of

          3  the theaters primarily because of the logistical

          4  concern and there's been a long history there. With

          5  the redevelopment of 42nd Street through the years,

          6  it was EDC and other City agencies, and that

          7  predated all of us. So, again, I think it really

          8  depends on what they're looking to do. If it's real

          9  estate, economic development initiatives, they're

         10  always going to reach out to EDC.

         11                 They might call us, too, and we can

         12  work with them to facilitate that. But I would like

         13  for our constituents and the people of the City of

         14  New York, if they have a theatre question, call us.

         15  One-stop shopping.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         17                 How about help in getting funding for

         18  a program to give you, you know, reach out to get

         19  discount tickets to families?

         20                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Well, that would

         21  be certainly something we would put a group together

         22  to consider and explore, but something along those

         23  lines would probably be EDC, you know, because they

         24  look into wider range funding programs.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You know,
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          2  because the League of American Theatres and

          3  Producers, they have this program that they're

          4  starting, which I helped fund, called First Night

          5  Out, and we're looking for more funding from the

          6  Administration. This is a great program to help

          7  under-privileged children and their families to go

          8  to the theatre; you know what I mean?

          9                 Now, who would they go see to help

         10  them with funding?

         11                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Have them call

         12  us, and we will --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Will they see

         14  you?

         15                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: -- And we'll

         16  figure out who at EDC and the other appropriate

         17  colleagues that we would need to reach out to.

         18                 But we want to be inclusive. We want

         19  to simplify it for all of you. You know, that's the

         20  whole purpose of the 3-1-1 initiative.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: They're not

         22  going to call 3-1-1 to get the run-around.

         23                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: I don't think

         24  so. I beg to differ. I mean, we've found that it's

         25  been extremely successful, and people are connected
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          2  directly to the appropriate agency, and if you have

          3  any problems, you know, I'm happy to convey that,

          4  but we've had great success with 3-1-1.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Do you deal with

          6  Off Broadway Theatres also?

          7                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: That is more

          8  with the Department of Cultural Affairs.

          9                 We will. Again, it depends on what it

         10  is. You know, if, you know, John Tutorro -- you

         11  know, again there is a lot of crossover, because,

         12  again, because of the film and television community,

         13  so many of them are involved in Off Broadway

         14  productions, it's hard to be black and white.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Now, you keep on

         16  mentioning that you do the marketing for the

         17  theaters, what do you include in that?

         18                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: We don't do

         19  marketing for the theaters. We are not employed by

         20  the theaters.

         21                 What our job is, is to promote all

         22  that New York City has to offer. To promote the key

         23  locations where film-makers can shoot, to help the

         24  theatre community support their needs when they are

         25  opening a Broadway show, or ending a Broadway show.
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          2  Again, there are specific logistical needs that they

          3  need from us, and that is our primary function.

          4                 But we want to celebrate and promote

          5  Broadway and beyond.

          6                 We take great pride, for all of the

          7  reasons that I said to you, and when I'm acting as a

          8  salesperson to lure more production to New York,

          9  it's a wonderful thing to point to the rich theatre

         10  community on Broadway as the talent pool and an

         11  opportunity for producers to draw from those people

         12  for their productions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'd like to

         14  recognize my colleague Eric Gioia.

         15                 Eric.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 Commissioner, I'm very happy to be

         19  here for your testimony today. As I walked in and I

         20  hear you talking about the great things New York has

         21  to offer in contrast to Los Angeles and other places

         22  where they also are hubs for culture, I thought of a

         23  saying that I once heard, which is that politics was

         24  show business for ugly people, and I looked over at

         25  my distinguished colleague, and I hope you bring to
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          2  your friends in the movie and film industry and

          3  other places, in New York that's not true.

          4                 In all seriousness, I wanted to thank

          5  you for being here today.

          6                 In talking about the film industry,

          7  which as you know is near and dear to my heart,

          8  particularly because it's such a huge engine in my

          9  district, with Silvercup and Kaufman Studios, as we

         10  look at the New York economy over the next ten years

         11  or the next 20, I'm sure you're familiar with the

         12  work of Richard Florida, and particularly his new

         13  book, which I guess is The Flight of the Creative

         14  Class which opens up talking about New Zealand and

         15  what Lord of the Rings has done for their economy in

         16  terms of promoting that type, that cultural synergy.

         17                 As you know, we worked together to

         18  help pass a film tax credit about a year ago, how

         19  has that helped the industry in New York? If it has

         20  helped. I won't ask a leading question. Has it

         21  helped the industry in New York?

         22                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: It's made all

         23  the difference in the world. The Mayor signed it

         24  into law in January 3rd of this year. Since January

         25  the Made In New York Tax Incentive Program has lured
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          2  in $450 million in new business, and created 6,000

          3  new jobs for film and television in the City of New

          4  York. That's outstanding. I mean, it's just

          5  incredible. It really puts up in play. Our biggest

          6  problem was competition from Canada, New Zealand,

          7  Australia, South Africa, the tax credit which is the

          8  first time ever that we have one, and it's ten

          9  percent from the State, five percent from the City,

         10  a fundable tax credit for qualifying productions,

         11  it's changed the nature of the business. Business is

         12  booming right now, and it's really helping not only

         13  the people directly involved in the industry, but

         14  there are 4,000 ancillary businesses in the City of

         15  New York that benefit from film and television.

         16                 We've given countless examples, and

         17  we've testified in this room, many of you were

         18  there. You know, when you've got a show like Law and

         19  Order that spends a million dollars a week on

         20  production and supports so many different

         21  businesses, that's true economic impact.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I agree with

         23  you, and I think it is. And I think as New York's

         24  economy shifts and you look at a declining

         25  manufacturing base, and say, well, you know, where
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          2  will the good jobs be, I think that this has

          3  tremendous potential. It is a huge growth industry

          4  for New York.

          5                 What else can we do and should we be

          6  doing over the next year to help foster this growth?

          7                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Well, I think

          8  that we probably need to hopefully expand going

          9  forward the film program. Not everyone qualified for

         10  the film program, and so there are certain parts of

         11  the industry that would like to be included in a tax

         12  incentive program, and that's what we're working on,

         13  the commercial industry would like to have some kind

         14  of support. We'd like to see if we could expand the

         15  film and television reach.

         16                 But I think, you know, it's historic

         17  that we have this, it's incredible for the first

         18  time ever that we've had it, and now our job is to

         19  promote it and to make more people aware that they

         20  could take advantage of it.

         21                 We've gotten a lot of press on this,

         22  but we want to really reach out and globally to

         23  instill in the minds that New York is an option now.

         24                 And, so, that's what we do day in and

         25  day out.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GIOIA: And what about the

          3  music industry? The music industry also, would it be

          4  the same?

          5                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: We have a lot of

          6  music videos that shoot in New York, and I think

          7  that, you know, the music industry, you know, there

          8  are a number of recording and record companies that

          9  are based here. That's another business that we

         10  would look to attract and foster.

         11                 I mean, we want to instill in the

         12  minds of the world that New York City is the

         13  entertainment capital of the world, so that's very,

         14  you know, it's multifaceted.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: With

         16  good-looking politicians.

         17                 Well, I thank you very much for your

         18  testimony. And I'm looking forward to working with

         19  you on that.

         20                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Absolutely.

         21                 And we appreciate all of the support.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you. We

         23  should probably, I'd like maybe our staffs to get

         24  together and have a follow-up meeting and talk about

         25  the tax credit --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Sure.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And ways to

          4  work together.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your

          7  leadership.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Gioia.

         10                 Talking about the tax credit, I want

         11  to talk about the commercial rent tax, the CRT

         12  abatement that is available at theatres and was

         13  recently posted on your website? You know, the CRT

         14  is paid only on rents over $250,000 for commercial

         15  purposes south of 96th Street in Manhattan.

         16                 The abatement, as far as I understand

         17  it, exempts theatres from the tax from the first 52

         18  weeks of a production. What I would like to know is

         19  how many performing artists are currently taking

         20  advantage of the CRT abatement? What is the annual

         21  cost to the City for this tax program? And how many

         22  theatres are currently paying the CRT tax?

         23                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: I don't have

         24  that information with me right now.

         25                 We can certainly look into it and get
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          2  back to you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay. Is this

          4  something that you deal with? Or does Kate Levin

          5  deal with that? DCA?

          6                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: This is

          7  probably, you know, EDC and us dealing with it. But

          8  we have not had -- I don't have the statistics for

          9  you, but I'm happy to look into it and provide that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, because

         11  this is something that has come to our attention and

         12  we'd like more information on it, to see exactly,

         13  you know, how many theatres are taking advantage and

         14  how many, you know --

         15                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And should it be

         17  extended for more than 52 weeks?

         18                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Especially for

         20  a, you know, for a play that maybe is not doing as

         21  well, so we can encourage it to stay on Broadway for

         22  more than a year. You know, sometimes that little

         23  help helps them stay longer than it picks up,

         24  because it catches on. Or if a play is doing very

         25  well on it, maybe they don't need the 52 weeks. The

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  whole thing here is to help the, you know, the

          3  theaters and the performing arts. That's what we're

          4  interested in.

          5                 So, we'll follow, I'll follow this up

          6  in a letter --

          7                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: That's fine.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And maybe later

          9  on at a further date we'll have another hearing on

         10  it.

         11                 Before I go any further, I would just

         12  like to make a little public service announcement.

         13                 We have here today, we have two

         14  people with us today from New Orleans. We have Jenna

         15  Kablanta (phonetic), who is working with Donna Karen

         16  at NYC and Company. Jenna is here. She is here from

         17  Tulane University. And we welcome you.

         18                 And also we have working with us,

         19  sitting to my right, Carrie Pulet, she is from Leola

         20  University, going now Fordham Law School. And she's

         21  here with us. I just want to welcome them to New

         22  York City.

         23                 No matter what you hear we are very

         24  friendly, as you can see by our wonderful

         25  Commissioner. We welcome you.
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          2                 If you have any questions, feel free

          3  to ask them.

          4                 My last question is, the other night

          5  the Mayor had a Town Hall meeting in my community,

          6  which your representative was very well -- because,

          7  as you know, Coney Island, they're producing some

          8  movies and stuff, and they put this little booklet

          9  out, and as I read through it, I saw that it deals

         10  with all about the movie industry. I was wondering,

         11  do you have one of these for the theatres?

         12                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: No, we don't.

         13  Because this is really pertaining to the tax credit

         14  for film and television and the marketing credit

         15  that compliments it, and that's the bulk of what

         16  that brochure is about. We hand that out to

         17  in-coming productions and respective customers to

         18  educate them about the tax credit.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Oh, okay.

         20                 But do you put out any kind of

         21  leadership for the theaters?

         22                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: We don't. It is

         23  something we would like to do, and is on the to do

         24  list.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: But on our

          3  website, if you click on theatre, we have a rundown

          4  of all of the theatres in New York and the specs. A

          5  lot of productions like to shoot at theatres, and

          6  people are thinking about, you know, bringing

          7  different projects in. And we try to update our

          8  newsletter each month with a feature piece on

          9  something new in the theatre industry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         11                 You know, and you might want to do

         12  something with that First Night Out, that's been

         13  expanded. We're looking to really expand that.

         14                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: That's a great

         15  idea.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Also, do you

         17  have a specific budget for the performing arts for

         18  the Theatre --

         19                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: No, we don't.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: -- Part in your

         21  office?

         22                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: No, we don't.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         24                 Has your office ever conducted any

         25  comprehensive studies that explore incentives and
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          2  other economic assistance tools that aid the

          3  performing arts community?

          4                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Our office has

          5  not specifically done that study, but we do refer to

          6  the study that is put out by the League several

          7  times a year, and that's quite comprehensive, and we

          8  refer to that, but we have not done our own study.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And last, but

         10  not least, I'm going to discuss with this

         11  resolution, resolution designating the last week of

         12  January to be known as Live Theatre Week. Do you

         13  support that?

         14                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Sounds

         15  interesting. It sounds great, I need to know, learn

         16  a little bit more about it. Live Theatre Week?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, it's Live

         18  Theatre week, but we have a copy of a resolution

         19  here. We're not voting on it today, we're going to

         20  just hear about it, but we could get you a copy

         21  before you leave here today.

         22                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'd like you to

         24  look it over and to discuss and see how the Council

         25  and the Mayor's Office could work together to really
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          2  promote this, because we're really trying to help

          3  the theatres out in the last week in January.

          4                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I want to thank

          6  you for coming here today.

          7                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER: Thank you for

          8  having me.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         10                 MS. DEPEDRO: Our next panel will be

         11  Randall Bourscheidt and Donna Keren. And Karen

         12  Hauser, Director of Research, League of American

         13  Theatres and Producers. And Barbara. Sorry.

         14                 Good afternoon. Welcome. You can just

         15  start with whoever would like to go first.

         16                 Ms. Keren, do you want to go first.

         17                 MS. KEREN: Good afternoon, Chairman

         18  Recchia, members of his staff and the Committee. My

         19  name is Donna Karen, and I am vice president for

         20  Policy and Research at NYC and Company, the City's

         21  official tourism marketing organization.

         22                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         23  address the importance of the performing arts, in

         24  creating and sustaining cultural tourism

         25  opportunities, the kinds of things that New York

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  City And Company with our 1,800 members use to

          3  market to visitors from all over the US and the

          4  world. Our extraordinary cultural resources have

          5  been shown to increase the number of visitors to New

          6  York City, and to encourage them to spend more time

          7  and more money when they're here.

          8                 We believe that this diversity offers

          9  one of the greatest opportunities to expand the

         10  economic impact of visitor spending across the whole

         11  City, far beyond its current $21 billion level.

         12                 In addition to supporting cultural

         13  and performing arts organizations, visitor spending

         14  supports small and large businesses and good jobs

         15  throughout all five boroughs.

         16                 Without doubt, attending a cultural

         17  organization is the single most popular activity for

         18  visitors, they do need to eat, but it's culture that

         19  really brings them.

         20                 Over 17 million people last year

         21  included visits to cultural destinations, performing

         22  arts organizations, and museums in their trip

         23  activities. That was 43 percent of all the visits to

         24  the City.

         25                 Of them, NYC and Company estimates
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          2  that almost 10 million visits were aimed at the

          3  City's multiple and diverse performing arts

          4  attractions, including concerts, on and off broadway

          5  plays and musicals, dance and live music shows, as

          6  well as opportunities for live performances and many

          7  of the City's museums and historic sites.

          8                 Cultural visitors to New York City

          9  pump about $10 billion in direct spending into the

         10  City economy each year.

         11                 The City's tourism industry and

         12  attractions are still in a vulnerable position,

         13  however. While we were optimistic that we finally

         14  reversed the downward trend we had seen since 9/11,

         15  we still need to work growing the cultural tourism

         16  market.

         17                 Therefore, promoting cultural and

         18  performing arts organizations and opportunities is a

         19  major objective at NYC And Company, and one

         20  fundamental goals of the separate NYC And Company

         21  Foundation.

         22                 As you know, New York City competes

         23  with an increasing number of cities in the US and

         24  overseas for that cultural visitor. Philadelphia,

         25  Washington, Chicago, San Francisco, as well as

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  Montreal, Toronto, London, Paris, and Barcelona, all

          3  rely on dedicated and tax supported revenue to

          4  support their bigger marketing budgets.

          5                 Last year, for example, Philadelphia

          6  spent 13 and a half million dollars to promote the

          7  City. They even put billboards up on Madison Square

          8  Garden to bring New Yorkers down there.

          9                 However, given the cultural riches in

         10  New York, NYC And Company is able to create seasonal

         11  and special events to open the window on the

         12  cultural scene to residents and visitors alike.

         13                 Let me provide a few examples of this

         14  synergy.

         15                 This year when the City played host

         16  to the Gates Project in Central Park, the work of

         17  the artist Christo and Jeanne-Claude, we did

         18  extensive promotion around the world for months

         19  before the event.

         20                 The resulting media coverage

         21  increased visitor volume and activity in the normal

         22  slow tourist month of February.

         23                 NYC And Company researched during the

         24  Gates evaluated the impact on the City as a whole.

         25  I'll be happy to provide a copy of the whole report,
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          2  but I want to share just one point with you now.

          3                 In addition to visiting Central Park

          4  and the Gates, one in four visitors, almost 300,000

          5  people, planned to take in a live performance on

          6  Broadway, at Lincoln Center, Carnegie Hall or other

          7  venue around the City during those 16 days last

          8  February.

          9                 The second example comes from a

         10  regular NYC And Company program we call Cultural

         11  Organization of the Month.

         12                 In just the past year we've promoted

         13  performing arts venues and companies, including

         14  Carnegie Hall, the Public Theatre, Symphony Space,

         15  and the Paul Taylor Dance Company.

         16                 Speaking of the NYC And Company

         17  website, which we use to promote these

         18  organizations, we're also able to host specific

         19  links for all of our 150 cultural members.

         20                 On-line we also have something called

         21  the NYC Visit Events Calendar, which is one of the

         22  most popular sites, 400,000 page views a month.

         23  Which offers performing arts companies and venues

         24  Citywide, the opportunity of poster events and

         25  schedules. If you look at it this week for the
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          2  weekend, there are over 235 listings, including

          3  almost 40 taking place outside Manhattan.

          4                 The listing changed daily, so

          5  everybody should bookmark it.

          6                 Before I wrap up, I want to invite

          7  all of you and every staff member here to the

          8  premiere cultural showcase in this City called

          9  "Culture Fest 2005."

         10                 This year, 107 non-profit cultural

         11  organizations and performers from all five boroughs

         12  will showcase their upcoming programs and events to

         13  an expected audience of 80,000 people in Battery

         14  Park.

         15                 I know you all now have the list and

         16  the subway map how to get there. This Sunday,

         17  September 24th and 25th, from 11:00 to 5:30, rain or

         18  shine, we will be in Battery Park.

         19                 This, by the way, is our fifth year.

         20  We were the first big public event to launch after

         21  9/11, when we started in October 2001, and we've

         22  just been growing ever since.

         23                 Given the limited marketing funds

         24  available to most of the City's cultural

         25  organizations, this kind of Citywide umbrella
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          2  program actually expands the organization's

          3  marketing resources, by bringing them together in

          4  one weekend as they launch their fall calendars,

          5  Culture Fest gives them increased visibility and

          6  access to new and old audiences.

          7                 I've also attached some additional

          8  research about our additional cultural visitors to

          9  my testimony.

         10                 So, I hope to see you all at Culture

         11  Fest over the weekend, and if you plan to come, let

         12  me know, because I will be there all weekend, I will

         13  be happy to take you around.

         14                 And I just wanted before I close to

         15  say that I know and I appreciate how much the City

         16  Council does to support the arts, and you've long

         17  acknowledged the value of performing arts and

         18  cultural tourism to the different communities of our

         19  City, and to remind you that there are probably

         20  cultural workers and cultural organizations in your

         21  district and certainly in your borough, and don't

         22  forget them when you talk about what goes on in New

         23  York.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MS. HAUSER: Hello. I'm Karen Hauser,

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  the Director of Research for the League of American

          3  Theatres --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Can you move the

          5  microphone closer to you.

          6                 MS. HAUSER: I just wasn't close

          7  enough.

          8                 I'm Karen Hauser, the Director of

          9  Research of the League of American Theatres and

         10  Producers, the Trade Association for the Broadway

         11  Theatre industry.

         12                 My colleague Barbara Janowitz, the

         13  League's Director of Government Relations joins me

         14  today.

         15                 Mr. Chairman, and members of the

         16  Committee on Cultural Affairs, Libraries and

         17  International Intergroup Relations thank you for the

         18  opportunity to testify today about the economic

         19  impact of the Broadway Theatre.

         20                 As the number one cited reason for

         21  visiting New York City, and the engine that drives

         22  tourism here to New York, Broadway's health is

         23  intrinsically linked to the economic well-being of

         24  the City.

         25                 I'm happy to report some very good
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          2  news that you've been reading about in the

          3  newspapers lately, news that is both good for

          4  Broadway as an industry and the entire City of New

          5  York.

          6                 The last season on Broadway, from

          7  June 2004 to June 2005, grossed $769 million in

          8  ticket sales, and attracted 11.53 million

          9  ticket-buyers. The second-highest grossing season

         10  ever.

         11                 Furthermore, Broadway just completed

         12  its best summer season ever, topped the previous

         13  highs prior to 9/11.

         14                 Just after 9/11, there was a

         15  precipitous decline in audiences and ticket sales,

         16  following the World Trade Center tragedy.

         17                 However, almost immediately Broadway

         18  ticket sales were bounded. Within weeks, scores of

         19  local theatre-goers rushed to Broadway to show their

         20  support. Within a few months, sales to suburbanites

         21  rebounded, and in Spring 2002, the number of

         22  domestic tourists in the theatres regained their

         23  pre-9/11 levels.

         24                 On the other hand, it wasn't until

         25  2004 that the numbers of international visitors to
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          2  the Broadway theatres were turned to their Year 2000

          3  numbers.

          4                 However, now, perhaps thanks to a

          5  relatively weak dollar this summer, the percentage

          6  of international tourists hit record highs.

          7                 The 13 weeks of the summer on

          8  Broadway saw more than 3 million theatre-goers, more

          9  than the previous record summers of 2000 and 2001.

         10  Revenues were also up proportionately. 211.5 million

         11  for this first quarter of this first season, as

         12  compared to 138.5 million and 167.5 million

         13  respectively for the same periods in 2000 and 2001.

         14                 This revenue increase is due both to

         15  the larger overall audience and also to increase

         16  ticket prices, both of which are significant factors

         17  in the increase in the industry's economic impact to

         18  this City, a fundamental piece of the mosaic of the

         19  New York City economy.

         20                 The League conducts economic impact

         21  studies of Broadway every two years. We're currently

         22  working on the 2004/2005 season which will be done

         23  some time this winter and we'll make sure you all

         24  get copies as soon as they're available.

         25                 Our most recent study from the
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          2  2002/2003 season, we found that Broadway contributed

          3  an estimated 4.3 billion to the economy of New York

          4  City, and supported nearly 40,000 full-time

          5  equivalent jobs.

          6                 The 4.3 billion comes from 1.66

          7  billion in impact derived from spending by the

          8  Broadway shows, labor, advertising and other

          9  expenses, 42 million in impact from spending by the

         10  theatres, capital improvements, maintenance, labor,

         11  et cetera, and overwhelmingly, the largest piece of

         12  the puzzle is 2.6 billion in impact from ancillary

         13  spending by Broadway-motivated visitors.

         14                 We define the Broadway-motivated

         15  visitor as somebody who does not live in one of the

         16  five boroughs of New York, and who either came to

         17  New York City or extended a trip to New York City

         18  specifically to see a show.

         19                 Accounting for multiple theatre

         20  visits, over 5 million individual visitors were in

         21  the City because of Broadway that year.

         22                 Their major categories of

         23  Broadway-related ancillary spending were

         24  restaurants, hotels, shopping and transportation.

         25                 It's clear then that Broadway's
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          2  economic impact is largely dependent on tourism,

          3  with record attendance and a full recovery of the

          4  international tourism market.

          5                 Remember, international tourists tend

          6  to plan longer visits to the City and spend more

          7  money while they're there.

          8                 We're expecting the 2004/2005 season

          9  economic impact to be even greater than the 4.3

         10  billion that we found last year.

         11                 MS. JANOWITZ: And I'm going to take

         12  over here just for a paragraph or two.

         13                 We're very happy to be here today and

         14  to talk about these wonderful numbers. Bearing in

         15  mind of course that they're dependent on the overall

         16  economy holding its own, and we're all hearing

         17  little rumors and tremors about the possible

         18  downturn significantly in the economy, we're praying

         19  that doesn't happen.

         20                 We're very happy, though, to talk

         21  about these numbers, to talk about the large piece

         22  of the City economy that is directly attributable to

         23  Broadway theatre and the ancillary spending of

         24  Broadway's visitors.

         25                 We all hope and pray that these
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          2  numbers continue to increase for the good of the

          3  City and the good of the theatre business and all

          4  its workers.

          5                 But with success comes

          6  responsibility. With more theatre-goers than ever

          7  before flocking to Times Square, and with the

          8  enormous increase in employees working in the area,

          9  we're faced with very serious issues affecting

         10  safety, aesthetics and the overall visitor

         11  experience.

         12                 In particular, we urge the members of

         13  the New York City Council to work with us as we look

         14  to resolve the perennial untenable peddler situation

         15  in the theatre district, to help provide resources

         16  to keep patrons safe in the event of another

         17  terrorist attack in New York; to locate

         18  environmentally acceptable safe parking for group

         19  tour buses, which is really beginning to plague us

         20  again and again in the Times Square area, and in

         21  general to keep Times Square vibrant, exciting and

         22  safe for all New Yorkers and visitors.

         23                 We're very grateful to the City of

         24  New York, especially to the City Council for your

         25  past support of Broadway, for Family First Night
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          2  Support, for Resolution 1152, which we think is

          3  terrific for all the other ways you've supported us,

          4  and we look forward to our continued collaboration.

          5                 Thanks very much for this opportunity

          6  to talk about Broadway's economic impact, and we're

          7  happy to answer any questions that you might have.

          8                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Thank you. I'm

          9  Randall Bourscheidt, from the Alliance for the Arts,

         10  and before I talk about the subject, I just want to

         11  say very briefly that I'm very conscious of the fact

         12  that I'm in a room with friends. I want to commend

         13  you, Councilman, for your leadership of this

         14  Committee, but also point out that your colleagues

         15  in the Committee and in fact your colleagues at

         16  large, are among the strongest supporters of the

         17  arts in New York City, and speaking on my own behalf

         18  and for many friends in my community, we're aware of

         19  your leadership and we're very grateful for it.

         20                 And just as one example, I want to

         21  point out that we asked you for the means to get

         22  this modest, but important little publication, which

         23  is A Guide to Arts Education Programs, in the public

         24  schools into the hands of every public school

         25  teacher this fall, and it is going to them this week
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          2  and next week, thanks to the Council.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, I want to

          4  thank you for giving the Council the recognition it

          5  deserves, because for too long people, you know,

          6  they come in, they ask us for millions of dollars,

          7  but then on their publications they put every other

          8  City agency, they always leave out the City Council,

          9  and I'm glad you give us the recognition that we

         10  deserve. Too long in this City, people in the

         11  cultural community just took us for granted, and

         12  that all is changing rapidly because, you know what?

         13  If you want funding from us, you want to help, you

         14  have to let people in the City know that the City

         15  Council is involved in the program, because people

         16  don't realize how important, how hard me and my

         17  colleagues and Speaker Gifford Miller work to make

         18  sure that the arts succeed in this wonderful City.

         19  But I want to thank you.

         20                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Well, thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 I think really what we're talking

         23  about today is a situation, we like to pat ourselves

         24  on the back from time to time and talk about how

         25  important we are culturally and many other ways, and
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          2  that is justified, and it's partly because we have

          3  some of the greatest cultural institutions in the

          4  world, in the country, we have the amazing wealth of

          5  Broadway, we have leadership from the Administration

          6  and from the City Council. But, frankly, Councilman,

          7  we don't always work together, and I'm going to talk

          8  about that a little bit more in my prepared remarks.

          9                 We can do a better job. We should

         10  aspire to do as well as Philadelphia, to refer to an

         11  old joke.

         12                 So, I come here with good and bad

         13  news. The positive fact is that the performing arts

         14  in New York are strong. Our City has a majority of

         15  the most recognized playwrights, composers,

         16  choreographers working in the country, many of them

         17  at the beginning of their careers. Our performing

         18  arts schools are full of aspiring students, some of

         19  them from New Orleans. Some of our greatest

         20  institutions, such as the Brooklyn Academy of Music,

         21  the New York City Ballet and Metropolitan Opera, and

         22  the public theatre have strong programs enjoyed by

         23  enthusiastic audiences.

         24                 In fact, the Alliance just two months

         25  ago published the first comprehensive study of

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  non-profit cultural attendance in the City. We found

          3  that the audience in 2004 was 25.6 million, almost

          4  26 million people. This was big enough news that the

          5  Times and Crain's New York reported it, but it may

          6  have been lost in the other news of the summer. But

          7  I think it's very encouraging and every important. I

          8  think it means it's legitimate to say that

          9  non-profit cultural attendance is probably the most

         10  popular leisure activity for New Yorkers.

         11                 It compares to 11.6 million of

         12  attendees at the theatres and our friends in League,

         13  and 11.3 attendance, million attendance, at live

         14  sporting events.

         15                 All of this is reason to be happy.

         16                 What's the bad news? The bad news is

         17  that the performing arts world as an industry is

         18  suffering severe economic stress. Many of the

         19  companies in this City have experienced reductions

         20  in the most important sources of income from the box

         21  office and individual contributions.

         22                 At the same time, City funding has

         23  essentially stayed level. The result is that our

         24  performing arts groups have not recovered from

         25  September 11. And the labor pool, to use a cold
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          2  economist term for the vital men and women who

          3  devote their bodies and spirits to performing, the

          4  labor pool endures uncertainty of employment, low

          5  wages, and except for those in a few privileged

          6  companies or Broadway shows, practically no health

          7  insurance.

          8                 The non-profit performing arts are

          9  fairly self-reliant, earning an average of nearly 60

         10  percent of their income. But reductions in funding

         11  from government and private sources, such as

         12  corporations and foundations, compounded by

         13  reductions in box office income, has put them in a

         14  financial squeeze.

         15                 According to the Alliance's 2001

         16  report who pays for the arts, in the period

         17  1995-1999, government funding for the performing

         18  arts declined by nearly 15 percent, compared to a

         19  modest gain for the visual arts.

         20                 Recent data on about 1,000 cultural

         21  groups, funding by the New York State Council on the

         22  Arts, about half of which are in the performing

         23  arts, shows a drop of five percent in private

         24  contributions.

         25                 The result is hardship for the
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          2  performing arts. Something hard to see because the

          3  lights of a successful Broadway theater industry get

          4  most of the attention. But Broadway cares about this

          5  hardship, and for a good reason, and it's been

          6  referred to by other speakers, and that is the

          7  relationship between commercial and non-profit

          8  theater, it is a very close one, with Broadway more

          9  than ever depending on non-profit theatres funded by

         10  New York City for talent and material. The same is

         11  true for dance and music.

         12                 The alliance is currently engaged in

         13  a comprehensive study of economic impact to the

         14  arts.

         15                 As we look at the industry as a

         16  whole, we see how the commercial arts rely on

         17  non-profit organizations and artists.

         18                 The producer of Law and Order,

         19  Jeffrey Hayes, has said, and this is a quote: "New

         20  York City has a remarkable pool of acting talent and

         21  the best crews in the country. I can't imagine

         22  filming this show anywhere else.

         23                 As other speakers have said, the way

         24  to keep that acting pool and the group of crews and

         25  the other resources that commercial film and
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          2  television sector relies on, as well as commercial

          3  theatre, is to keep our non-profit cultural

          4  institutions healthy.

          5                 I'd like to close with just some

          6  relevant facts that I think are useful to consider

          7  about this important sector. New York City has 34

          8  theatre companies with budgets over 300,000 a year.

          9  It has 14 opera companies with budgets over 250,000

         10  a year. It has 18 orchestras which are members of

         11  the American Symphony Orchestra League, and 31 dance

         12  companies which are members of Dance USA. And these

         13  are just the largest companies. In fact, there are

         14  465 performing arts groups in New York City funded

         15  by the State Arts Council.

         16                 Looking at the role of the arts

         17  industry in the New York City economy, we find that

         18  the total economic impact of all of the arts was

         19  $11.1 billion with non-profit cultural organizations

         20  generating $3.2 billion. The arts generate 130,000

         21  jobs directly and indirectly, and return nearly a

         22  quarter of a billion dollars to the City in taxes.

         23  These numbers tell us that this is a key home

         24  industry, and the City government must be creative

         25  and energetic in finding ways to support it.
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          2                 The first line of action is increased

          3  funding for the non-profit performing arts

          4  organization throughout the City. They are the front

          5  line of employing artists, strengthening

          6  neighborhoods and attracting tourists.

          7                 City funding for cultural announce,

          8  and this is the last fact I will burden you with,

          9  City funding for culture amounts to less than half

         10  of one percent of the total City budget.

         11                 It is time to change that. Imagine

         12  how strong the arts could be, how much they can

         13  contribute to our educational system, our

         14  communities, and our economy, if the cultural

         15  affairs budget were raised to one percent.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you,

         18  Randy, for your testimony. I just want to add, when

         19  you said the greatest institutions and you mentioned

         20  a few, I think you have to include the American

         21  Ballet, you left them out.

         22                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Oh, I could be here

         23  all day long --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I know.

         25                 I just want to first, so I'm clear on
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          2  your testimony, you're looking at the performing

          3  arts as a whole, okay, because the League of

          4  Theatres, they're looking at just Broadway, you're

          5  looking as a whole, including Broadway, profit,

          6  non-profit, off-Broadway, you're taking everyone

          7  into consideration?

          8                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: We are all

          9  colleagues, which is why I'm honored to sit at the

         10  same table as my friends here, but we split the work

         11  a little bit. We are certainly interested in

         12  promoting the arts to the tourist world, but we work

         13  with NYC & Company to do that.

         14                 We're also very proud that we work

         15  closely with the League in the preparation of these

         16  biannual reports on the economic impact of Broadway,

         17  and we do our larger reports, as I referred to in my

         18  statement, it's extremely important, because of the

         19  symbiotic relationship I've been talking about, to

         20  look at the arts industry as a whole, commercial and

         21  non-commercial. So that about answers your question.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right. So,

         23  it seems to me like the commercial is doing much

         24  better than the non-commercial, not-for-profit?

         25                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Thank God they're
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          2  doing incredibly well.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I know they're

          4  not doing as good as they should be doing. They'd be

          5  doing better.

          6                 Okay, there's two questions here,

          7  okay? We heard Commissioner Oliver talk about how

          8  she's marketing and the theatre, the performing arts

          9  and so forth, and could NYC And Company, Ms. Keren,

         10  Donna, could you clarify the marketing goals and

         11  responsibilities of NYC And Company.

         12                 Do you work with her office, the

         13  Office of Film and Theatre?

         14                 MS. KEREN: NYC And Company has a

         15  primary function to bring business and leisure

         16  visitors to New York, and within that we focus on

         17  working with EDC when it's relevant with the film

         18  office, because that is a business activity that we

         19  bring to New York. And each time those folks come

         20  out of town to produce, to act, to be part of the

         21  group, that's a component of the market.

         22                 We work with Department of Cultural

         23  Affairs in promoting the not-for-profit and the

         24  City-owned institutions. When I look at it, I look

         25  at visitors, anybody who comes from 50 miles or more
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          2  or sleeps over in New York, and then I try and find

          3  out what they do and what they spend their money on.

          4  And as one of the Fact Sheets in my testimony shows

          5  you, they almost half, that 43 percent, 17 million

          6  people, whatever else got them to New York, they add

          7  culture to their stay and to their spending, and

          8  whether or not they spend it in the not-for-profit

          9  sector or the for-profit sector, that's a little

         10  harder for me, particularly in the performing arts,

         11  to tease out. But we look at our data against what

         12  the museums provide, what Broadway provide, and

         13  what's always important to remember is they don't

         14  just spend money on the ticket sale to get into the

         15  museum or the theatre, they go out to eat. They buy

         16  a souvenir, they stay in a hotel, they pay taxes to

         17  a garage when they park their car or the bus. So, we

         18  just see this, anything that attracts people to New

         19  York, as being part of what you might call the New

         20  York City brand, there is nothing comparable

         21  anywhere in the world.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Do you promote

         23  the Off-Broadway Theatres?

         24                 MS. KEREN: Yes, we do. There will be

         25  Off Broadway companies at Culture Fest. Many of them
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          2  are active members of the NYC And Company, and their

          3  programming is on our website. It is part of our

          4  calendar of events. We are a little taken by

          5  surprise by your resolution. I have a feeling there

          6  is going to be a great deal of support, and we would

          7  love to continue talking to you about it, because we

          8  also run special programs in January, because it's a

          9  slow tourist month. And the combination of our

         10  marketing and this resolution would be I think a

         11  very exciting possibility for the City.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'll talk about

         13  the end of January, I just want to bring up one

         14  topic, you brought up in your testimony about the

         15  Gates.

         16                 MS. KEREN: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay. Did you

         18  receive any money from the City after that to

         19  reimburse you? Because you did marketing for that?

         20                 MS. KEREN: No, we didn't.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Oh, you didn't

         22  do anything?

         23                 MS. KEREN: We do the marketing

         24  because this is an event that attracts tourists, and

         25  it was incorporated into our annual plan.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because the

          3  problem that I have, you know, last year we had this

          4  wonderful Gates exhibit, brought in millions of

          5  people, and Department of Cultural Affairs didn't

          6  get any of the money. The money went to the Parks

          7  Department.

          8                 MS. KEREN: I think some of the money

          9  went from Parks back to DCA, but our contract with

         10  the City is the contract --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: What I'm trying

         12  to do is, as we hear from Randy and Alliance for the

         13  Arts, is that the arts really needs the money. So,

         14  what I'm trying to do here is have this -- you know,

         15  I don't know if they're planning something for this

         16  January again, I'll have to ask Kate Levin if she's

         17  planning something, but we have to try to help the

         18  entire art community of performing arts to see what

         19  we can do, and that's why we're having you here

         20  today.

         21                 Could any one of you tell me how we

         22  could help the performing arts community and

         23  prosper, and what we can do as City Council members

         24  to help you promote this and try to address some of

         25  the issues facing the performance arts and the
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          2  theatre industry today?

          3                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Well, I certainly

          4  think that your idea for Live Theatre Week is a

          5  great way. Because I think shining a light on an

          6  aspect -- you know, it's a big City and we're all

          7  very busy, and shining a light on the value of life

          8  theatre, I think would be a really positive step for

          9  the City to take, and simply support your idea in

         10  this.

         11                 And what I like about it is that it

         12  supports Broadway and Off, and Off Off Broadway as

         13  well.

         14                 MS. HAUSER: I think we'd all love the

         15  opportunity to sit down and brainstorm on that, and

         16  the end of January is traditionally a very slow time

         17  for I think all the arts in New York. Certainly

         18  Broadway just tanks after the holidays, between

         19  Martin Luther King weekend generally and Easter,

         20  it's very difficult. And we try to run our own

         21  promotions, but I think we could certainly all

         22  benefit by working together on the same thing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right,

         24  because that's what we're trying to address as those

         25  issues.

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 But another issue that has come up to

          3  this Committee is that many New Yorkers who live

          4  here, they complain a lot of that Broadway is too

          5  expensive, that, you know, to go to Broadway, you

          6  know, it's $100 a ticket, it's very, very expensive

          7  for a family to go there; what's your opinion about

          8  that issue?

          9                 How could we get more -- you know,

         10  it's funny, many New Yorkers you can talk to who

         11  live here, you know, they really don't go to

         12  Broadway that often. And especially in the outer

         13  boroughs. They just say it's too expensive, between

         14  parking, which costs $30, $40, to go out to eat it's

         15  expensive, to go, you know, for the theatre ticket

         16  itself.

         17                 MS. JANOWITZ: Broadway is expensive,

         18  there's no doubt about it. A top Broadway ticket

         19  price is expensive. Going to the Metropolitan Opera

         20  is expensive, going to see American Ballet Theatre

         21  is expensive, these are all highly -- and many other

         22  cultural performing arts groups have high ticket

         23  prices as well at the top tier, I might say. These

         24  are labor-intensive industries, and the theatre is

         25  governed by 17 labor unions, so believe me, if we
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          2  could figure out how to do it cheaper, we'd be the

          3  first to do it.

          4                 I would like to point out that, when

          5  you talk about $100, you know, that's the highest

          6  end of the ticket scale. There are tickets in the

          7  first balcony, the second balcony that are much less

          8  than that. There are everyday tickets available at

          9  the half price ticket booths run by Theatre

         10  Development in Times Square, half price tickets for

         11  shows that have available inventory on Broadway.

         12                 All across New York there are indeed

         13  ways to see shows, to see theatre, to see Broadway,

         14  to see non-Broadway Theatre and the other cultural

         15  events at less than that top ticket price. Do you

         16  have to be smart? Yeah. But the information is

         17  there. We get it out as frequently as we can, and

         18  just everybody fixes on that top price.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Do you put on

         20  your website how to get discount tickets, and list

         21  all the different ways? Is there a website? Like NYC

         22  And Company, do you put that on your web? Does

         23  anybody put on their website like how to get

         24  discount tickets or where to go or different --

         25                 MS. KEREN: There are websites out
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          2  there that do put, have lists all the different

          3  ticket prices. Ours, we don't list all of the

          4  different ways to get discount tickets, because our

          5  members, the producers, don't want to advertise that

          6  as much as possible.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yeah, I

          8  understand.

          9                 MS. KEREN: To go back to what Barbara

         10  was saying, the actual average paid admission is

         11  usually around $60, not $100. Some of it is just

         12  perception, which is another problem. But it's not

         13  every single ticket isn't $100, or the scalper

         14  prices that sometimes people do, which is another

         15  issue. There usually are availability. There usually

         16  is availability and there usually are not top

         17  prices, and people are also willing to pay top

         18  prices for the shows that they want to see. It's

         19  anything that's a hot product, whether it's a show

         20  or concert or anything, then there's no problem for

         21  people paying exorbitant amounts for the hot shows.

         22  It's the middle-of-the-line shows that struggle with

         23  that.

         24                 Do you want to add something?

         25                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: If I could just add
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          2  a word?

          3                 We have recently seen two very

          4  interesting examples in non-profit performing arts

          5  of a new approach to marketing and also reaching out

          6  to younger audiences, and these have been strongly

          7  New York audiences. And the examples I have in mind

          8  are the Fall For Dance Program, which began a year

          9  ago at City Center designed as a people's theatre,

         10  but their prices had inched up, their economic

         11  pressures, and they had a brilliant idea of

         12  presenting a diversity of dance companies, most of

         13  them based in New York, or $10 for every seat in the

         14  house. They sold out within hours. The audience was,

         15  it was like going to high school. The audience was

         16  delightfully young. These were people having, in

         17  many cases, their first experience of the live

         18  performing arts.

         19                 It was heavily subsidized by the

         20  private sector. Similarly, the City Opera which

         21  began at season last Thursday, the first two nights

         22  were a mini-festival called "Opera for All." Every

         23  seat in the house at the State Theatre, $25. Sold

         24  out within hours. The press reports quoted Board

         25  members saying they had never seen so many young
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          2  people in the house.

          3                 What we need is leadership, probably

          4  from the public sector and the private sector, to

          5  try and make this kind of approach financially

          6  feasible for, whether it's for the Broadway Theatre

          7  or the non-profit performing arts.

          8                 But I think if the leadership could

          9  emerge, and the Council could play a role in that,

         10  and your live theatre week could be a step in that

         11  direction, I think you'd find a very strong positive

         12  response from the commercial and non-profit

         13  performers.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes. What I'm

         15  planning on doing for my Theatre Week is to, after

         16  this hearing today, we will be calling a roundtable

         17  discussion, so if you would like to be invited to

         18  get people to come to see what, how they feel, what

         19  we should do and all about this Live Theatre Week,

         20  so we will be contacting -- yes.

         21                 MS. KEREN: To come back to the Live

         22  Theatre Week, I think it's a perfect example, and

         23  what I mentioned in my testimony about Culture Fest,

         24  what we call "umbrella programs," and it will not

         25  rain this weekend, whether I'm calling it umbrella
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          2  program or not, this is a fabulous way for the

          3  Council to get involved. It creates a way that no

          4  single organization has to carry the burden. We can

          5  distribute the activity across the City because

          6  there are performing arts companies situated in

          7  every corner of New York, and some of them are very

          8  small and they may be ethnic companies, many be

          9  neighborhood companies, may be aimed towards youth

         10  or one of the arts or another.

         11                 But because the Council pulls all of

         12  that together and represents all of us, then an

         13  organization like NYC & Company, the City's DCA or

         14  some of the other, whether it's Parks or another

         15  Department, really can put all of our joint effort

         16  together. In a sense, well, we didn't put money out

         17  of our pocket into the Gates. It became this amazing

         18  umbrella in the month of February. It was a reason

         19  for people to be in New York. And as we discovered,

         20  once they were here, they did more than go into

         21  Central Park, they went out into Manhattan, they

         22  went to other museums, they went out into the

         23  boroughs, they went to other kinds of events,

         24  because you went to the park during the day, but you

         25  did something different at night.
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          2                 And, so, it's rare that you're going

          3  to get a pair of artists who want to spend 25 years

          4  of their lives and their own private funding to put

          5  this thing together, but the idea of focusing the

          6  attention on the arts in the winter, in the slow

          7  time in the summer, is I think something that the

          8  Council really can help the community with.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Well, that's

         10  what we want to do. We want to help the arts.

         11                 I want to just go to, you said

         12  Philadelphia, you brought that up before with the

         13  $15 million. Elaborate what they do, you know, and

         14  how we could maybe match them.

         15                 Sometimes you learn by what other

         16  cities do that's successful.

         17                 MS. KEREN: Philadelphia, unlike New

         18  York, is a City where a portion of the hotel tax

         19  goes into tourism marketing. And their net marketing

         20  budget is about 13 and a half, maybe 14 million

         21  dollars. That's the entire NYC and Company budget,

         22  which includes labor and overhead, and a whole

         23  variety of other costs and charges. They do that

         24  with support in additional support, some grants,

         25  some from the State, and so they have a serious
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          2  marketing campaign that they go out and both print

          3  and broadcast media outdoor advertising, and they

          4  have documented an increase in visitor volume in the

          5  last three years, both in the international market,

          6  as well as their, what we call drive distance

          7  markets, that's pulling people, we complete with

          8  Philadelphia for the same audience.

          9                 So, they do it with a dedicated

         10  stream, and a very nice chunk of money, $13 million

         11  really does make a difference.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Sure it does.

         13                 MS. KEREN: I can share their data

         14  with you, if you'd like?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Sure. Yes, I

         16  would like to sit down --

         17                 MS. KEREN: I can get you their

         18  material.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Whenever he

         20  hears material, he gets all excited.

         21                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: I'm determined to do

         22  as well as Philadelphia.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Without the tax,

         24  of course.

         25                 MR. BOURSCHEIDT: Without the tax,
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          2  right.

          3                 Some of the non-profit cultural

          4  organizations have begun to talk about what would

          5  essentially be a private initiative.

          6                 We certainly would enjoy a

          7  partnership with City government, but in trying to

          8  raise the profile of New York City, a cultural

          9  profile for potential cultural visitors to the City

         10  nationally and internationally, and that's something

         11  we want to talk more to your Committee and the

         12  Council about.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         14                 You know, one of the purposes of

         15  today is to see exactly which City agency does what

         16  to help specifically the performing arts.

         17                 Because, you know, too many times we

         18  hear, you know, well everybody is doing everything

         19  for the performing arts. As you heard with the

         20  Commissioner, we're trying to really narrow it down

         21  to see, you know, how the performing arts, and where

         22  they could go for help and to see how we could

         23  promote it more, and I think it's a combination of

         24  working with Commissioner Oliver, DCA, you know, NYC

         25  and Company and everyone, to really promote the
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          2  performing arts. And I think that we could get more

          3  out of it than what we have been in the past, and I

          4  think it's up to use and government to try to bring

          5  everyone together.

          6                 So, I would like everyone -- thank

          7  you for coming here to testify, and if you have

          8  anything else to say, I would be more than glad to

          9  hear it, but if not, thank you.

         10                 MS. DEPEDRO: For the next panel, we

         11  will have Maria Somma, from Actors' Equity

         12  Association, and Karen Hopkins.

         13                 If anybody else would like to

         14  testify, please hand your name in.

         15                 Just I ask, before you testify, just

         16  to state your name and where you're from.

         17                 MS. SOMMA: My name is Maria Somma.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You have to

         19  press it.

         20                 MS. SOMMA: I'll try it again.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Push the mic

         22  closer to you.

         23                 MS. SOMMA: I usually have stage hands

         24  with me. From the technical aspect.

         25                 My name is Maria Somma, and I am the
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          2  National Spokesperson for Actors' Equity

          3  Association, and I want to thank you, Chairman

          4  Recchia, and distinguished members of the Committee,

          5  for giving us the opportunity to speak to us about

          6  Actors' Equity.

          7                 The historical significance of our

          8  union, and the unique characteristics and issues

          9  that face the future of performing artists in our

         10  City.

         11                 Equity was born here in New York City

         12  in 1913, during a time of labor strife, when actors

         13  often did not get paid or were left stranded on the

         14  road without money, without housing, transportation

         15  to get back here.

         16                 A few like-minded actors met at a

         17  club in Grammercy Park and formed what became

         18  Actors' Equity. We have grown into a very strong

         19  labor union, representing over 45,000 American Stage

         20  Actors and Stage Managers, working in a professional

         21  theatre. Nearly 16,000 of our members are residents

         22  of New York.

         23                 Since 1913, Equity has grown and

         24  flourished through the jazz age, and the birth of

         25  the American drama with Eugene O'Neill's Beyond the
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          2  Horizon, and the American Musical with Show Boat.

          3                 The depression was a time of great

          4  creativity for the theatre. The WPA's federal

          5  theatre was formed, Children's Hour, Waiting for

          6  Lefty, and Anything Goes, and Progy and Bess were

          7  among the plays and musicals on Broadway.

          8                 With the second world war came the

          9  Stage Door Canteen, Irving Berlin's This Is The

         10  Army, Annie Get Your Gun and Oklahoma. We were

         11  involved in all of this.

         12                 But our impact in today's society

         13  goes far beyond the theatre. Actor's Equity has been

         14  at the forefront of progressive change. We have been

         15  the innovators in workers' rights by becoming the

         16  first entertainment union to force our employers to

         17  provide pensions.

         18                 Fought strong and hard against the

         19  blacklisting of our members in the 1950s, and

         20  consistently used our celebrity for charitable

         21  causes. And we have stood firm in our belief in

         22  equality.

         23                 In 1922, Paul Robeson was the first

         24  African-American actor to tour southern states as

         25  the start of The Emporer Jones (sic).
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          2                 In the 1940s, we shut down the

          3  National Theatre in Washington, D.C., because of its

          4  segregation policy. In fact, in 1961, Equity

          5  insisted there be a clause in all of our contracts

          6  that states emphatically employment of our members

          7  will be without discrimination.

          8                 Representatives passed new

          9  unemployment legislation in the House of

         10  Representatives, and that included an amendment

         11  first posed by an Equity staff member.

         12                 Because of Equity's due diligence a

         13  decade later, the tax reform of 1986 included the

         14  category of performing artist, which recognizes the

         15  special needs for low-income performers.

         16                 And most recently Equity lobbied

         17  Albany for the Cobra Subsidy bill, which helps

         18  individuals in the performing arts, as well as

         19  displaced factory workers.

         20                 Equity has grown with this City. In

         21  addition to the work we do, eight performances a

         22  week on Broadway, Off Broadway, in the Lort

         23  theaters, in the small resident theatres, our

         24  members are part of the communities in which we

         25  live.
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          2                 We are volunteers. We are consumers.

          3  Our children go to the schools in the five boroughs.

          4  Our members support the small businesses in the

          5  neighborhoods and we use the MTA. We move into

          6  neighborhoods because of the affordability there,

          7  and we help to revitalize them.

          8                 Manhattan Plaza is an example of

          9  affordable housing for artists that has become a

         10  catalyst for the redevelopment and growth of Hell's

         11  Kitchen, and West 42nd Street.

         12                 In times of crisis, our members band

         13  together to raise money, lift spirits and assist in

         14  any way we can.

         15                 But in order for the performing arts

         16  to continue to flourish in New York City, it's

         17  important that the needs of performing artists are

         18  supported. We face grueling 15-hour days that

         19  include rehearsals, auditions, classes, and if we're

         20  lucky, performing.

         21                 We are plagued with episodic

         22  employment, low wages, and increases in taxes,

         23  public transportation, rents and other costs.

         24                 You know, the median income of an

         25  actor is about $17,000. We don't work 52 weeks a
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          2  year. We have to seek employment elsewhere.

          3                 Because of that episodic nature, it

          4  definitely takes a toll on what we can do. We can't

          5  just take another job, we have to keep ourselves in

          6  good condition. We have to take voice lessons, we

          7  have to take dance lessons, we have to take acting

          8  lessons.

          9                 If we're not working, we can't afford

         10  to take those lessons. A voice lesson alone is $100

         11  an hour. So, it becomes very, very difficult.

         12                 We also can't always afford to go to

         13  theatre, and that's what we have to do to do the

         14  research, to see the shows, to see what we could fit

         15  in, what show we could audition for.

         16                 So, if there is some help that we can

         17  have in some way, whether it's affordable housing,

         18  to make it easier for us to live, continue to live

         19  in this City, or if there is other blueprints that

         20  can be used for health subsidies, it's going to help

         21  us to stay here and to continue to contribute to New

         22  York City, to the communities as citizens and to the

         23  culture of New York City and as the ambassadors to

         24  the world for America.

         25                 On behalf of Actors' Equity, and our
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          2  16,000 members, we commend the City Council for

          3  holding this hearing on such an important topic.

          4                 I hope that in the short time I've

          5  been able to paint a picture that shows the

          6  importance of the performing artist to all of our

          7  lives, and show the positive effect we have in our

          8  communities.

          9                 On the anniversary of our 50th

         10  celebration, President Kennedy sent us a note and in

         11  part it said, "From the smallest summer stock

         12  playhouse to Broadway, the theatre gives our people

         13  a strong personal bond, the ideas and ideals of our

         14  civilization. It does more. It gives our best

         15  creative minds a forum, and it gives all of us a

         16  much-needed diversion."

         17                 In closing, I'd like to say the

         18  Equity supports the resolution for Live Theatre

         19  Week, and we look forward to working closely with

         20  you to secure the future of our members and to

         21  strengthen the performing arts sector in New York

         22  City.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Ms. Hopkins.

          3                 MS. HOPKINS: Council member. I'd like

          4  to first recognize the Council Member and his

          5  excellent staff for the leadership that they have

          6  provided for this Committee. I think that the

          7  cultural community appreciates and welcomes the

          8  partnership that you have provided. And I would also

          9  like to congratulate the Council Member on the

         10  exciting new economic developments in Coney Island.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 I just want you to know that there's

         14  a theatre in there.

         15                 MS. HOPKINS: I was going to say. And

         16  now I think we should talk --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I don't know if

         18  anyone realizes that.

         19                 MS. HOPKINS: I think we should be

         20  talking about a fabulous performing arts and visual

         21  arts complex.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: There's a live

         23  theatre, 2500 theatre.

         24                 MS. HOPKINS: Now that we've got a

         25  luxury seaside resort area in Brooklyn, I think we
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          2  should definitely talk about the arts.

          3                 I will be brief today, but I guess

          4  the things I want to say are things that I've

          5  certainly said before. I believe that we can make

          6  the case for the arts by the numbers, in terms of

          7  education, community economic development and jobs.

          8                 I think we can make the case for the

          9  arts by example, I think we can make the case for

         10  the arts from the heart.

         11                 The numbers, you've heard a lot of

         12  them here today, the tourism situation where 40

         13  million tourists visit New York City every year, and

         14  have been determined that culture is the primary

         15  reason why they do so.

         16                 As far as additional numbers of arts

         17  education, I just have a little pamphlet that

         18  arrived from the Americans for the Arts Action Fund,

         19  and I thought that some of these statistics were

         20  interesting, that young people who participate in

         21  the arts for more than three hours a week are four

         22  times more likely to be recognized for academic

         23  achievement, three times more likely to be elected

         24  to class office, four times more likely to

         25  participate in a math and science fair and on and on
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          2  and on.

          3                 As far as examples are concerned, I

          4  think you've heard me say before, and I continue to

          5  believe that this is an area we should spend some

          6  time focusing on, that when BAM is dark, the whole

          7  block suffers, every restaurant, every store, and

          8  that we are a prime catalyst for providing business,

          9  not only within our own institution, but the whole

         10  neighborhood.

         11                 And I think that this has been an

         12  underresourced concept and one that I think we

         13  should consider doing some experimentation with.

         14                 Taking certain institutions and small

         15  businesses and trying to develop some very proactive

         16  packages that drive audience into the neighborhoods

         17  after performance. In certain cases, in Midtown and

         18  places where that is already happening, it's less

         19  necessary than it is in the boroughs and in other

         20  neighborhoods where more economic revitalization is

         21  required.

         22                 I have some specific ideas about how

         23  we can achieve this, but we need a little funding,

         24  and I don't even think too much to try and create

         25  some new strategies to tie small business and
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          2  neighborhood revitalization more closely to arts and

          3  culture.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I think NYC and

          5  Company could help us with that.

          6                 Donna.

          7                 MS. HOPKINS: Yes, Donna.

          8                 I think there's a lot of ideas here

          9  that would relate to tourism, but not just to

         10  tourism, I'm talking about even local businesses.

         11                 I mean, I noticed in my own

         12  institution, where we have 400,000 visitors a year,

         13  but a goodly number of them do come from Manhattan

         14  and other places and many of them will return home

         15  after, but a lot of them are right there from

         16  Brooklyn, and rather than have them return from some

         17  of their other Brooklyn neighborhoods, I would like

         18  to encourage them to get to know Fort Greene a

         19  little bit better and see what's available in the

         20  BAM neighborhood, and then vice-versa when they

         21  visit other neighborhoods.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         23                 MS. HOPKINS: And I think it happens

         24  but it hasn't happened in a proactive way.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And I agree with
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          2  you because a lot of times when people go to the

          3  theatre, especially I don't know if people realize

          4  this or not, okay? But in New York City, there are

          5  very few what I call family-friendly restaurants.

          6  And people don't realize this. There's very few

          7  restaurants where people welcome you with your

          8  family and your children. And especially, you know,

          9  in certain areas like you said, you know, with Bam.

         10  Because you leave there, where do you go? And I

         11  think that's, you know, something that we have to

         12  talk with different City agencies on getting the

         13  word out.

         14                 How do we get the word out? Where to

         15  go? And I think that's something we could really

         16  work with, because when you leave a lot of these

         17  institutions, people don't know where to go to go

         18  eat --

         19                 MS. HOPKINS: That's right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And so forth.

         21                 No, listen, I agree with you. I

         22  experienced it myself.  I mean, a lot of times you

         23  walk into restaurants, and I have three little

         24  children, and you go into restaurants sometimes,

         25  people look at you as if you have two heads, you
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          2  know, how do you bring the kids in this restaurant?

          3                 But it's like I said, there's very

          4  few restaurants in New York City that are

          5  family-oriented, you know, really for children and

          6  families.

          7                 But, also, it's an issue that I think

          8  because it will really help the community, it helps

          9  the performing arts, it would help Broadway and Off

         10  Broadway and you're 100 percent right.

         11                 MS. HOPKINS: And I think it's

         12  possible, as I say, to take a few test cases, see if

         13  we can go into some neighborhoods that would be

         14  interested in doing this, spend a little money to

         15  try a few things, see what works and then distribute

         16  it to every neighborhood, that I just think we can

         17  be more effective here.

         18                 And then the other thing that I

         19  wanted to mention on the numbers, that the arts do

         20  generate 50 percent of their income overall through

         21  earning.

         22                 Now, I think that there's probably

         23  very few other publicly-funded areas that actually

         24  can generate 50 percent of their income, so that

         25  means that we only need the public and private
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          2  sector to come up with the other 50 percent, half

          3  the job is already being done. So that at the end of

          4  the day, support for creativity and culture is

          5  unmatched in terms of what it could provide to

          6  energize and motivate people, build confidence,

          7  allow people through learning and be part of the

          8  arch to be better listeners, communicators and

          9  learners, it's fun, it's interesting and relative to

         10  other areas, it's a great investment.

         11                 And our problem has been getting our

         12  message out. Why, when we can make impact in

         13  education, impact in community and economic

         14  development, impact in the greater aesthetic

         15  enrichment of every person on the face of the earth,

         16  at a relatively cheap price have we not been able to

         17  get this message out to government, to business and

         18  to the greater world at large. And that I think is

         19  the challenge that we really face ultimately, is

         20  making sure that the life of the creative

         21  imagination, the life of the arts, and everything

         22  that is offered, that we can communicate that to

         23  everybody that would like to participate in it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you.

         25                 MS. DEPEDRO: I'm sorry, I didn't have
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          2  your appearance card before, and I would like to

          3  introduce now for Clive Gillinson, the Executive and

          4  Artistic Director of Carnegie Hall, David

          5  Freudenthal.

          6                 MR. FREUDENTHAL: Thank you.

          7                 Good afternoon, Chairman Recchia. I

          8  echo Karen's compliments to you for holding this

          9  hearing on the performing arts, it's an important

         10  thing. We appreciate it, and we thank you for your

         11  really good work and that of your excellent staff.

         12                 Clive Gillinson is really sorry that

         13  he couldn't be here today and asked me to read his

         14  remarks in his sted, which I'll read from.

         15                 As you know, Carnegie Hall, Like the

         16  Brooklyn Academy of Music, is one of the 34

         17  City-owned cultural institutions in the CIG,

         18  including performing arts institutions, as well as

         19  museums, Botanic Gardens, wildlife parks and

         20  aquariums, all in City-owned land, and it's part of

         21  the compact with the City for these institutions to

         22  be providing these services.

         23                 It's well established, and we all

         24  well know, that cultural institutions are a vital

         25  component of urban life, that they have an
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          2  enormously positive effect on neighborhood

          3  development, and the cultural tourism, as you've

          4  heard today, is a leading business for the City.

          5                 We're particularly blessed that way,

          6  given the City's massive and amazing wealth of arts

          7  and cultural organizations, which in the case of CIG

          8  dates back a century to decisions that the City

          9  Fathers made about making this world city.

         10                 There's been in last years an

         11  increased interest in quantifying the effect of the

         12  performing arts as economic agents, not just on the

         13  quality of life, but how they can actually bring

         14  dollars into the City.

         15                 You all know the Port Authority study

         16  which reinforced the case for public investment in

         17  our sector, and these studies have yielded findings

         18  about cultural tourism, about primary and secondary

         19  employments, the multiplier effects of this, and

         20  these things are cited as gospel now. You've heard

         21  this before. It's all true.

         22                 While this information has been very

         23  helpful to the institutions like Carnegie Hall, as

         24  we seek public funding, changing the nature of the

         25  conversation about the arts is, it kind of makes it
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          2  into a truly financial equation. We all know,

          3  though, that the arts make us more human, they make

          4  us better citizens, and they contribute to the

          5  quality of life in a way that is important.

          6                 I want to be sure that we don't lose

          7  sight of that human impact. In particular, instead

          8  they impact Carnegie Hall.

          9                 The fiscal argument is in recent

         10  years, cultural institutions, performing arts

         11  institutions have become smarter and more avert

         12  about making the connection, adapting the

         13  organizational structures, the tools, the community

         14  development institutions that have been used before

         15  for housing and retail development to leverage our

         16  status, our resources and our management expertise.

         17                 In more established neighborhoods,

         18  places like Carnegie Hall and major museums are

         19  captive facility-bound institutions, like hospitals

         20  or utilities that are intricately connected to the

         21  communities in which they function.

         22                 The many extraordinary institutions

         23  throughout Midtown have created a kind of de facto

         24  cultural district that adds much of the appeal to

         25  this area as the destination for businesses,
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          2  tourists and increasingly for residents.

          3                 We could look back to the City's

          4  courageous decision to preserve Carnegie Hall in

          5  1960 as a critical factor in the cultural anchoring

          6  of 57th Street corridor as a destination for

          7  tourism, retail and commercial uses.

          8                 At Carnegie Hall, specifically what's

          9  going on with us, we're experiencing a time of great

         10  growth, ushered in by the building of Zankel Hall,

         11  our new theatre. The wide-ranging program, including

         12  jazz, popular, world music has enabled us to attract

         13  new audiences that are coming at different times,

         14  activating Carnegie Hall more times a day. We're

         15  having about 700,000 concert-goers there, about a

         16  quarter of them from outside the Metro area, 4,000

         17  artists a year, hotels, restaurants, retail jobs,

         18  all the things you know about.

         19                 You know, people attending the new

         20  hall, tend to linger and look for places together

         21  afterwards, to Karen's point about when the theatres

         22  are dark. The theatres are a draw that have effects

         23  on the neighborhoods around them.

         24                 I just want to speak briefly about

         25  our public service commitment. It's part of the mix
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          2  in our compact with the City Council.

          3                 We present about 103 concerts in

          4  libraries, community centers, public schools, PAL

          5  sites, and homeless shelters. We expect about 10,000

          6  New Yorkers are going to take advantage of these

          7  free concerts. We've been providing free and

          8  low-cost school-based music education programs for

          9  tens of thousands of kids throughout the City and

         10  that's again part of our compact with the City as

         11  part of the CIG giving back. It's not just the

         12  performances.

         13                 I mean, kind of ultimately, it kind

         14  of gets down to this case of funding, which you've

         15  heard from different members here. The Carnegie Hall

         16  has been a model of successful public, private

         17  partnership, and we continue to do our best to seek

         18  the private investment, but we need the City Council

         19  to remain a partner in that.

         20                 We appreciate your good work, and the

         21  work of the Mayor's Office of Film, Theatre and

         22  Broadcasting, the Department of Cultural Affairs,

         23  NYC And Company in this partnership, and we look

         24  forward to our continued work together.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I notice how you
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          2  didn't say the Mayor's Office of Film and Theatre.

          3                 Do you do much work with the Office?

          4                 MR. FREUDENTHAL: You know, I kind of

          5  ran over it. I didn't mention it briefly.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: See, I'm just

          7  trying to see, like we heard from BAM, you know,

          8  what you're asking the City to do, you know what I

          9  mean? And I think what we have to do there is reach

         10  out to the Office of Small Business Services and

         11  work close, and really try to address that issue.

         12                 Do you find at Carnegie Hall people

         13  also don't know where to go?

         14                 MR. FREUDENTHAL: Well, you know, we

         15  work with different City agencies on different

         16  issues. We have a kind of contractual relationship

         17  with the Department of Cultural Affairs, as a member

         18  of the CIG, and was reporting and funding

         19  relationships around that. So, they're our primary

         20  contact within the City.

         21                 We turn to the Mayor's Office of

         22  Film, Theatre and Broadcasting, as the Commissioner

         23  testified, on logistical issues often. For instance,

         24  around permitting, on load-in, load-outs, for

         25  special events, but it's more on a case-by-case
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          2  basis. And it's more kind of about on an operation

          3  side.

          4                 But we have found, and similarly with

          5  Midtown North, as needed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Because, you

          7  know, we, in government, are trying to find exactly

          8  what City agency does what and how they help the

          9  performing arts. You know, because promoting the

         10  performing arts, we're also performing Broadway, Off

         11  Broadway, so, you know, we want to include

         12  everybody.

         13                 MR. FREUDENTHAL: I mean, I would just

         14  add to that, and we work with NYC And Company and

         15  closely to, they've been great partners in promoting

         16  our programming, and we appreciate that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: And do you work

         18  with other musicians? What do you do in the

         19  non-profit, you know, in the musician -- to help,

         20  not Off Broadway, but in the performing arts in

         21  other parts; does Carnegie Hall work with other

         22  groups?

         23                 MR. FREUDENTHAL: Well, we're a

         24  presenter, so we bring both local, local artists,

         25  national and international artists to perform at
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          2  Carnegie Hall.

          3                 We also have a neighborhood concert

          4  series that brings mostly New York City artists,

          5  actually to perform in free concerts around the City

          6  and in every Council district. And we often, we

          7  often have partnerships with other non-profit

          8  cultural institutions around our education programs,

          9  like the Metropolitan Museum of Art or different

         10  culturals for programs, if that's your question.

         11                 But Karen may --

         12                 MS. HOPKINS: Yes. First of all,

         13  here's an idea that for this --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You're full of

         15  lots of ideas.

         16                 MS. HOPKINS: I have a lot of ideas.

         17  We had a Board session this morning that was ideas,

         18  so I'm thinking idea today.

         19                 So, if we took this theatre week, and

         20  we could really include the live arts all together,

         21  we could call it City Live, and we could shoot the

         22  promotion spot for it up at the Bronx Zoo, and

         23  include both animals and actors, with all due

         24  respect, dressed in costume to create the option of

         25  all of the live things that New York has to offer
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          2  from its cultural institutions, both in terms of

          3  on-stage and in with all the living collections that

          4  we have.

          5                 You know, there really is such a

          6  dynamic and diverse group of institutions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes. With this

          8  one resolution, we're really trying, we're going to

          9  really try to help the performing arts this week,

         10  you know, at the end of January. We're open to

         11  ideas.

         12                 But getting back to the Actors'

         13  Equity, what do you think government and the

         14  different City agencies could do to help your

         15  members? Because let's face it, it's your members

         16  that stay here and, you know, what we want to do is,

         17  we want to help your members because we have to keep

         18  them in the City. Like it's very special to live and

         19  especially those who are raising families, you know,

         20  a lot of times, your members, they hold two jobs,

         21  they waitress --

         22                 MS. SOMMA: Sometimes more.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You're right.

         24                 MS. SOMMA: Housing would be,

         25  affordable housing would be crucial.
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          2                 For example, the goal for a lot of

          3  actors is to work on Broadway. There are not all

          4  that many jobs on Broadway, but everybody is

          5  striving for Broadway.

          6                 We live and work in a way, in a very

          7  small geographic area, and when I say live and work

          8  it's because you get up early and you go into this

          9  district, probably about 36th Street up to about

         10  50th Street, and what you're going to do in that

         11  entire day is run from audition to a dance class,

         12  back to another audition to your agent, to say, how

         13  come you haven't gotten me that job? Or you're going

         14  to a rehearsal and you're just constantly moving in

         15  this small area. If housing is not affordable,

         16  actors who don't make the $300,000 salaries that

         17  very, very, very few people can make, they are

         18  forced to move out of the boroughs. They're going to

         19  have to go farther out to get to a place where they

         20  can afford to live, and they're going to start to

         21  think twice about having to come into New York.

         22  Because the strain of the commute, getting the kids

         23  to school, picking them up, whatever it is, it

         24  becomes more difficult the farther they have to move

         25  out.
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          2                 And if we can identify something that

          3  could assist us in getting affordable housing,

          4  whether it's another building like in Manhattan

          5  Plaza, or there was housing that was created in

          6  Yonkers, there was only a few apartments, but that

          7  was helpful, and it wasn't just for performers, but

          8  it became, it was open to everybody in the

          9  entertainment industry, and it's not just actors

         10  that face the same situation, ushers, musicians,

         11  stage hands, box office, we're all feeling the

         12  squeeze, and we're all having to look to move

         13  farther outside of the City.

         14                 It used to be, okay, we're going to

         15  Brooklyn, we're going to Queens, and now we're

         16  having to start to look at the options outside and

         17  farther north.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 MS. HOPKINS: When we talk about

         21  connecting to other agencies, obviously the

         22  Department of Small Business Services I think is an

         23  area of opportunity. Another one might be to work

         24  with the TLC, or the DOT to talk about particularly

         25  transportation post performance, around the City
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          2  obviously, you know, subway transportation is pretty

          3  good, but the idea that there are more car service

          4  opportunities, more taxis available in non-Manhattan

          5  locations, would make it easier for people to come

          6  and go, and we rarely speak to these agencies.

          7                 As you know, we talk to the DCA.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Do you feel that

          9  if you had let's say taxi services, car services, in

         10  your area that that would increase your performances

         11  and increase your business?

         12                 MS. HOPKINS: Yes, I think that

         13  transportation, particularly for people like

         14  tourists who are coming into the City are really

         15  intimidated. I think if they're not used to the

         16  subway system, they're really intimidated by going

         17  to the boroughs because they don't know how to get

         18  back. They don't know how to get there. And there

         19  are some new systems. The Zingo Transportation

         20  System, where you can like plug a number into the

         21  cell phone and it will dispatch car service from the

         22  nearest one that's around.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Right.

         24                 MS. HOPKINS: We did some work on

         25  exploring this in the -- when we did the initiative
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          2  for the competitive Brooklyn round of discussions,

          3  we had a hospitality and tourism cluster, Donna was

          4  involved in that, and we spent time on the

          5  transportation issue, and then the issue of health

          6  insurance and the cost, not only to actors and

          7  performers but to institutions, we are being buried

          8  by this.

          9                 The cost of insuring the employees at

         10  BAM right now is over a million dollars, health

         11  insurance. It's just astronomical. And we're part of

         12  CIG so I think we're getting the best rates around,

         13  and it's impossible. So, it's something that we

         14  could really spend some time on, if we wanted to

         15  figure out ways to save money.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay. So we have

         17  a lot of work cut out, a lot of good ideas. And as

         18  far as the last week in January, we'll be having a

         19  meeting on that issue, but also I brought up

         20  something that was also important, is to maybe have

         21  some kind of conference where we have the different

         22  City agencies and we have different institutions

         23  there where they could come and just ask the

         24  questions straight out to see what they could do and

         25  work together.
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          2                 The main purpose of this is to try to

          3  -- number one, is to let the Administration, the

          4  people in the performing arts, know that they're not

          5  being left out. Knowing that government does care

          6  and wants to work with them with the performing

          7  arts, because if the performing arts succeed, the

          8  City succeeds, we all succeed, and that is the main

          9  purpose of this and many more hearings to come.

         10                 I just want to thank everyone. Thank

         11  you for testifying today.

         12                 MS. HOPKINS: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Unless anyone

         14  wants to say something else?

         15                 Okay.

         16                 MS. DEPEDRO: Our next and last panel

         17  is Mr. Floyd Rumahr from Stages of Learning.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: State your name

         19  for the record and where you're from.

         20                 MR. RUMAHR: Floyd Rumahr. I'm from

         21  Stages of Learning, which is a non-profit

         22  organization that serves 30,000 children in the New

         23  York City metropolitan region, since it's 1994

         24  inception, to drama instruction that helps children

         25  learn their curriculum through active participation.
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          2                 And I think I've been invited here to

          3  speak a little bit about how the arts have

          4  specifically impacted children, and I think that

          5  I'll restrict my comments today to what children

          6  have learned, grades three through seven, and

          7  roughly ages seven and a half to 12 and a half,

          8  through drama, since that's the area of my

          9  expertise. And I should let you know that if you

         10  have questions about anything that I'm about to say

         11  here, you can download our four-year study from

         12  Stages of Learning.org, which has more information

         13  about the evidence and how we collected it and so

         14  on.

         15                 When Mari first asked me to do this,

         16  she asked me to speak about this from the vantage

         17  point of anecdote, which I'm also happy to do, or

         18  provide you with what I understand to be our

         19  credible evidence in support of student achievement

         20  in and through the arts.

         21                 I have heard the word "success" used

         22  here multiple times, and I can tell you that many

         23  children in New York City are failing, and there are

         24  many reasons for that. I'm not going to pretend to

         25  be an expert on that. But I can tell you what I do
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          2  know about children, what I think I know about

          3  children, ages seven and a half to twelve and a

          4  half, and what our study has shown.

          5                 One of the things that it's shown is

          6  that children, and these are mostly Latino children

          7  in Bushwick, and Latino and African-American

          8  children in this study, increased work habits, what

          9  does that mean? They learn to come to class

         10  prepared. They learn to come to class on time.

         11  Punctuality, so on and so forth. These were the

         12  indicators, among other things, under work habit.

         13                 Habits of mind included things like

         14  organizing the world around you. Of course it's

         15  important to be able to organize and interpret

         16  information from the world around you. Many children

         17  are not learning to do that. They can learn to do

         18  that through drama instruction that is

         19  developmentally appropriate. And I can respond to

         20  questions about what that actually means, if you

         21  want to know more.

         22                 That said, they're also learning

         23  through drama the content area and the content area

         24  can be anything from Shakespeare to molecules

         25  bumping into each other to form thunder and
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          2  lightning. The idea is that children are learning

          3  these highly complex ideas through acting it out,

          4  which our research has shown is developmentally

          5  appropriate for all children, ages seven and a half

          6  to 12 and a half.

          7                 If you have children at this age, you

          8  might have seen them act things out. They do this

          9  all the time. It's a natural predilection for

         10  children at this age.

         11                 That said, I'd like to mention a

         12  couple of students who come immediately to my mind.

         13  One is from PS 94, who I won't name, but who did say

         14  in an interview on an early show on CBS when asked

         15  by the reporter, and this was quite improvizational,

         16  the child was not coached, "what did you learn from

         17  this experience?" And the ten-year-old said, I

         18  learned to soothe my -- or what did he say? He said,

         19  "acting teaches me to soothe the anger in my soul."

         20  Anger which at ten could be turned into bullets at

         21  16, if this boy doesn't find an appropriate outlet

         22  for his emotional expression.

         23                 That's one anecdote, I have

         24  thousands, since stages of learning has reached

         25  30,000 children through drama instruction.
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          2                 Our goal is to have one unit of study

          3  in drama in all public schools serving grades three

          4  through seven in the New York City public school

          5  system over the next decade.

          6                 And we're working with, obviously,

          7  Paul King's office, Sharon Dunn's office, as I was

          8  honored to be one of the writers of the blueprint

          9  for arts instruction that was recently published by

         10  the Department.

         11                 Do you have any questions about this?

         12  I would love to respond to it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: No. Thank you

         14  for testifying here today. And anyone else? Okay,

         15  that will conclude today's hearing. Thank you all

         16  for coming. We'll be in touch.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 3:05 p.m.)
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